FILED

JAN 2 3 2017

Court of Appeals No. 33615-8-III

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY

Supreme Court No. 94087.8

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAMROCK PAVING, INC., a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

HARLAN D. DOUGLASS and MAXINE H. DOUGLASS, husband and wife,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioner James A. McPhee, WSBA #26323 John T. Drake, WSBA #44314 WITHERSPOON BRAJCICH MCPHEE, PLLC 601 West Main Avenue, Suite 714 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 455-9077

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III.	INTRODUCTION 1
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 4
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
VI.	ARGUMENT7
	 A. The Court should accept review to resolve a split between Division II and Division III on the question of whether a MTCA plaintiff must prove that a release of a hazardous substance caused a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment in order to recover "remedial action" costs
VII.	CONCLUSION
VII.	APPENDIX233

TABLE OF CASES & AUTHORITIES

State Cases

State Rules

Brand v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., Dash Point Village Assocs. v. Exxon Corp., Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., Douglass v. Shamrock Paving, Inc., *Ingram v. Dep't of Licensing*, PacifiCorp. Envtl. Remediation Co. v. Wash. Dep't of Transp., Seattle City Light v. Wash. Dep't of Transp., **State Statutes State Administrative Regulations**

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Shamrock Paving, Inc. ("Shamrock"). Shamrock was the respondent below and the defendant in the trial court.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Shamrock seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Douglass v. Shamrock Paving, Inc.*, --- Wn. App. ---, 384 P.3d 673 (Div. III, 2016). A copy of the decision is attached hereto as <u>Appendix A</u>.

III. INTRODUCTION

This case presents an opportunity for the Court to clarify when a plaintiff may—and may not—recover "remedial action" costs under the Model Toxics Control Act ("MTCA"). It also invites needed clarification on whether a court must account for a plaintiff's ultimate recovery—or lack thereof—in deciding whether the plaintiff has "prevailed" under MTCA's fee-shifting statute.

Harlan and Maxine Douglass (the "Douglasses") sued Shamrock to recover the cost of cleaning up small amounts of petroleum that were released onto their property. The trial court found that the amount of petroleum released was too small to pose a threat—or even a potential threat—to humans or the environment. On that basis, the court entered

judgment for Shamrock and awarded fees and costs to Shamrock as the prevailing party.

Division III affirmed the trial court's finding that the release was harmless. Nonetheless, the court reversed as to the Douglasses' claim for \$950 in investigative costs (as distinguished from their claim for \$12,236 in cleanup costs), holding that the Douglasses could potentially recover the cost of conducting soil testing as a "remedial action" cost. The court also held that the *Douglasses* were the prevailing party, despite the fact that they might be awarded nothing on remand.

This Court now has the opportunity to decide two questions that will enhance MTCA's utility as a remedial statute and provide needed guidance to lower courts. The first is whether a plaintiff can recover the cost of investigating a release that turns out to be harmless. Departing from longstanding Division II precedent, Division III held that the cost of investigating a release is *automatically* recoverable as a "remedial action" cost, even when there was never any threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. The Court should accept review to endorse the rule intended by the Legislature: that proving a threat, or at the very least a *potential* threat, is a prerequisite to recovering investigative costs.

The second question is whether a court must account for a plaintiff's actual recovery—or lack thereof—when deciding whether the plaintiff has "prevailed" for purposes of MTCA's fee-shifting statute. In a provision unique among remedial statutes, MTCA provides that damages awards must be "based on such equitable factors as the court determines are appropriate." RCW 70.105D.080. Under this framework, a plaintiff who establishes a *right* to recover remedial action costs may or may not be *awarded* such costs. Depending upon how the court balances the equities, the plaintiff may recover all of its costs, some of its costs, or no costs whatsoever.

Regrettably, Division III adopted a bright-line rule that plaintiffs who establish a right to recover remedial action costs are automatically entitled to prevailing party status—without regard to whether any remedial action costs are actually awarded. If left in place, this decision will allow plaintiffs to recover attorney's fees and costs without recovering a single dollar in remedial action costs. The Court should accept review to clarify that a prevailing party determination must account for what, if anything, a court awards after balancing any equitable factors it deems appropriate.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether a plaintiff claiming "remedial action" costs in a MTCA contribution action can recover costs expended on investigative measures which confirm that a nominal release of a hazardous substance is harmless.
- 2. Whether courts must account for a plaintiff's actual recovery of remedial action costs—or lack thereof—when making a prevailing party determination under MTCA's fee-shifting provision.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Trial Court Proceedings

Shamrock adopts verbatim the Court of Appeals' description of the superior court proceedings and the facts proven therein:

Harlan and Maxine Douglass own real property in Spokane, Washington. During the summer of 2013, Shamrock used the property, without permission, as a staging area for a paving project. While at the site, Shamrock frequently fueled equipment and sprayed diesel fuel as a cleaner. Shamrock also stored piles of asphalt grindings, cold mix, and paper joints on the property; all of these materials contained petroleum.

After discovering Shamrock's unauthorized use of their property, the Douglasses instructed Shamrock to vacate. Shamrock complied and took steps to restore the property to its original condition. But the Douglasses were not satisfied. Concerned Shamrock had disposed hazardous substances, the Douglasses hired a company named Tetra Tech to conduct soil testing.

Tetra Tech first tested the soil in November 2013. The lone sample collected at that time revealed the presence of lube oil at a concentration of 2,000 mg/kg. Additional testing occurred the following January. This time two soil samples were taken. The first contained lube oil at 400 mg/kg, and the second contained 800 mg/kg. After receiving this second set of results, the Douglasses chose to clean their property by removing and disposing of 68 tons of soil. Postremoval, Tetra Tech took two final samples. The first showed lube oil at 220 mg/kg and the second showed lube oil at less than 100 mg/kg.

The Douglasses sued Shamrock for trespass and nuisance and filed a claim under the MTCA for recovery of remedial action costs. At trial, the Tetra Tech expert testified that after obtaining the first soil test results, he provided the Douglasses with three recommendations: take no action, remove a significant amount of soil, or do additional testing. The Douglasses chose to conduct additional surface soil testing. After the additional testing, the expert made the same three recommendations. This time the Douglasses opted to remove the soil.

Shamrock's expert testified that the Douglasses' soil test results were below the cleanup levels established by the Department of Ecology (Department). This meant there was neither an obligation to report the release to the Department nor was it required—or even common—to conduct any cleanup. Shamrock's expert explicitly stated he did not consider the concentrations found on the property to be a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment.

A jury returned a verdict in favor of the Douglasses' claims for trespass and nuisance and awarded them \$17,300.00. The court heard the Douglasses' MTCA claim. Despite finding Shamrock contributed to the release of hazardous substances and was thus liable under the MTCA, the court did not order payment of remedial costs. The court reasoned the precleanup concentrations of

petroleum on the Douglasses' property were too insignificant to constitute a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. The court awarded attorney fees and costs to Shamrock, the prevailing party, in the amount of \$97,263.

Douglass, 384 P.3d at 675-76 (footnotes omitted).

B. Court of Appeals Proceedings

On appeal, Division III agreed that the quantities of petroleum released "were too small to pose a potential threat to human health or the environment." *Id.* at 674. Importantly, the court recognized that the levels of contamination identified by the Douglasses immediately prior to the cleanup—400 mg/kg and 800 mg/kg—were well below the Department of Ecology's minimum cleanup threshold of 2,000 mg/kg. *Id.* at 678 & n.9. The court also noted testimony by Shamrock's expert to the effect that, even at the highest level of detected contamination, there was no threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. *Id.* at 678. The court thus affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the property was not sufficiently contaminated to pose a threat or potential threat—and that, as a result, the property "did not require remedial cleanup." *Id.* at 677, 678.

Despite agreeing that the Douglasses were not entitled to recover *cleanup* costs, the court reversed as to the Douglasses' claim for *investigative* costs. In the court's view, the soil testing performed by the

Douglasses' expert amounted to "remedial action" as defined in RCW 70.105D.020(33), and was therefore potentially compensable as a "remedial action cost" under RCW 70.105D.080. In reaching that conclusion, the court reasoned that the definition of "remedial action" extends not only to identifying and mitigating actual threats to human health or the environment, but also to identifying whether a potential threat exists:

By its plain terms, [the definition] is not limited to actual cleanup efforts. Actions taken to identify and investigate the need for cleanup are also covered. Furthermore . . . an investigation need not reveal an actual threat to qualify as remedial. Thankfully, not all potential threats turn out to be dangerous. By extending the remedial action definition to include the identification and investigation of potential threats, the MTCA covers actions and expenditures taken to discern whether a potential threat in fact poses a danger to human health or the environment.

Id. at 677.

The court remanded the case to the trial court to evaluate any equitable factors it deemed appropriate in connection with a potential award of investigative costs. *Id.* at 677-78. The court further concluded that the Douglasses were the "prevailing" party. *Id.* at 678.

V. ARGUMENT

Acceptance of discretionary review is governed by RAP 13.4(b).

Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), the Court may accept review if the decision below

conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Review may also be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) to resolve a conflict between Division II and Division III on the question of whether a plaintiff can recover remedial action costs when the fact finder concludes that a release does not pose a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. Review of this issue is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as a question of substantial public importance. The Court should endorse the rule that flows naturally from the statute's text: that proof of a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment is a prerequisite to recovering "remedial action" costs.

The Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to provide needed guidance on whether courts must account for the amount of remedial action costs actually recovered by the plaintiff—if any—when making a "prevailing party" determination under MTCA's fee-shifting provision. The Court should reject the rule adopted below and hold that a prevailing party determination must account for what costs, if any, a court awards after applicable equitable factors have been considered.

A. The Court should accept review to resolve a split between

Division II and Division III on the question of whether a

MTCA plaintiff must prove that a release of a hazardous
substance caused a threat or potential threat to human health
or the environment in order to recover "remedial action" costs.

The Court should accept review to reconcile a conflict between Division II and Division III on the question of whether a plaintiff must prove that a release of a hazardous substance caused a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment in order to recover "remedial action" costs. Consistent with the statute's text, Division II has long required plaintiffs to prove that a release caused a threat or potential threat. Division III departed from that precedent, holding that proof of a threat or potential threat is not required as to claims for investigative costs (as distinguished from cleanup costs).

An overview of the statute is in order. As relevant here, MTCA allows landowners who take "remedial action" in response to a release of a hazardous substance to bring an action to recover costs incurred in taking such action. RCW 70.105D.080. The term "remedial action" is defined as follows:

any action or expenditure . . . to identify, eliminate, or minimize any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances to human health or the environment including any investigative and monitoring activities with respect to any release or threatened release of a hazardous substance and any health assessments or health effects studies

conducted in order to determine the risk or potential risk to human health.

RCW 70.105D.020(33) (emphasis added).

This case turns on the meaning of the phrase, "to identify [a] threat or potential threat." Shamrock contends that this is a gerund phrase that refers to *the act of identifying* threats and potential threats. Under this reading, "remedial action" means actions that *result in the identification of* a threat or potential threat. In other words, actions are only "remedial" if they identify a threat or potential threat that needs to be remediated. If an action reveals that no threat or potential threat exists, by contrast, then it is not "remedial" within the meaning of RCW 70.105D.020(33).

Division III rejected this interpretation. In its view, the definition of "remedial action" includes not only actions that identify (result in the identification of) a threat or potential threat, but also actions to determine whether a threat or potential threat exists. *Douglass*, 384 P.3d at 677.

The distinction, while subtle, is significant. Under Shamrock's interpretation, a plaintiff must prove that a release *caused* a threat or potential threat in order to recover remedial action costs. Under Division III's interpretation, by contrast, the plaintiff can recover remedial action costs regardless of whether the release caused a threat or potential threat. This broader interpretation changes the outcome of cases in which (as

here), the fact finder concludes that a release was harmless and did not require a cleanup.

Shamrock's interpretation is supported by the plain language of the statute and is consistent with Division II's decision in *Seattle City Light v. Wash. Dep't of Transp.*, 98 Wn. App. 165 (1999). The plaintiff in *Seattle City Light* sued the Department of Transportation ("DOT") to recover the cost of removing hardened asphalt that DOT had caused to be deposited at a Superfund site. *Id.* at 167-68. As relevant here, DOT opposed the claim on the ground that the removal of the asphalt did not qualify as "remedial action" under MTCA because the asphalt, even if deemed a "hazardous substance," did not pose a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. *Id.* at 176. Applying the definition of "remedial action," Division II sided with DOT, holding that proof of a "threat or potential threat" is strictly required:

WSDOT argues that it should not be responsible for [cleanup costs] because the asphalt that it contributed to the site did not pose a threat to human health or the environment. We agree and hold that before a court may equitably allocate remedial action costs in a contribution action, the party seeking contribution under RCW 70.105D.080 must demonstrate that the defendant's hazardous substance contributed to a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment. In this case, WSDOT's hardened asphalt did not contribute to a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment.

98 Wn. App. at 176 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Division III distinguished Seattle City Light on the ground that it involved a claim for cleanup costs rather than investigative costs.

Douglass, 384 Wn. App. at 677. But that is a distinction without a difference. Seattle City Light applies the same statutory text at issue here: the definition of "remedial action." The language on which Division II relied—"any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances"— applies across the board to all types of remedial action. There is no reason to believe Division II would have parsed the definition any differently, let alone reached the opposite conclusion, had the plaintiff been seeking an award of investigative costs rather than cleanup costs.

Division III departed from *Seattle City Light* in an effort to encourage property owners to investigate potentially dangerous releases. Specifically, the court reasoned that allowing plaintiffs to recoup the cost of investigating "any potentially hazardous release, even if the release turns out to be harmless, encourages good stewardship and promotes preservation of the environment." *Douglass*, 384 Wn. App. at 677 (emphasis added).

Shamrock agrees that promoting good stewardship and protecting the environment are important objectives. What Division III failed to

recognize, however, is that the statute advances those objectives on its face, without the need for broad construction. Critically, the definition of "remedial action" includes not only the identification of actual threats, but also the identification of "potential" threats. RCW 70.105D.020(33) (emphasis added). Thus, a plaintiff is not required to prove that a release resulted in an actual threat to recover investigative costs; if the investigation reveals a mere potential threat—i.e., a threat that is sufficiently serious, but that may not ever come to fruition—the cost of the investigation is fully compensable. Allowing recovery when there is a mere potential threat is a powerful incentive to pursue investigations.

Division III's broader interpretation violates basic canons of statutory construction. When interpreting a statute, a court's objective is to honor the Legislature's intent. *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9 (2002). If the meaning of a statute is plain on its face, a court must give effect to that meaning as a definitive expression of intent. *Id.* at 9-10. As a corollary, courts may not add words to a statute that the Legislature did not use unless "imperatively required to make the statute rational." *Ingram v. Dep't of Licensing*, 162 Wn.2d 514, 526 (2007).

As illustrated below, Division III's interpretation adds words to the statute that the Legislature chose not to use:

RCW 70.105D.020(33) – "Remedial Action"		
Statutory Text	Division III Interpretation	
to identify any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances	to identify whether any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances exists	

Adding the words whether and exists is not "imperatively required" to make the statute rational. Ingram, 162 Wn.2d at 526. To be sure, the gerund construction offered by Shamrock—that investigative costs are only recoverable if they result in the identification of a threat or potential threat—is perfectly rational. By making recovery contingent on proof of a threat or potential threat, the Legislature sought to hold MTCA plaintiffs to a minimum standard of proof. The Legislature recognized that, without that requirement in place, MTCA plaintiffs would recover investigative costs as a matter of right in every single case, regardless of the size of the release or whether it posed any danger.

There is no reason to believe that the Legislature intended to hold defendants strictly liable for investigative costs. Indeed, the text of the statute forecloses such a rule. The Court should take this opportunity to endorse the rule intended by the Legislature and properly recognized by

Division II in *Seattle City Light*: that "remedial action" costs, including investigative costs, are only recoverable when the plaintiff proves that a release has caused a threat or a potential threat to human health or the environment.

B. The Court should accept review to clarify that prevailing party determinations under MTCA's fee-shifting provision must account for the amount of remedial action costs, if any, the plaintiff is awarded after the court has balanced applicable equitable factors under RCW 70.105D.080.

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