#### No. 94087-8

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COA No. 33615-8-III

## SHAMROCK PAVING, INC., a Washington Corporation

#### Petitioner

v.

#### HARLAN D. DOUGLASS and MAXINE H. DOUGLASS

Respondents/Cross-Petitioners

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW & CROSS-PETITION**

Joseph P. Delay, WSBA No. 2044 601 West Main Avenue, Suite 1212 Spokane, WA 99201-0684 (509) 455-9500 marigail@dctpw.com

Steven J. Hassing, WSBA No. 6690 425 Calabria Court Roseville, CA 95747 (916) 677-1776 sjh@hassinglaw.com

Attorneys for Petitioner, Harlan D. Douglass

###

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

- A. Is a release of a hazardous substance correctly characterized as nominal or harmless when it tests at the exact level at which the DOE mandates cleanup or must it at least be characterized as a potential threat to human health or the environment
- B. Must the Court of Appeals allow the Superior Court to first rule on equitable factors before designating Plaintiff the prevailing party even where defendant was a trespasser that released hazardous substances on Plaintiffs' property, some of it intentionally?

#### III. SHAMROCK'S PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

A. There is no split between Division II and Division III on the question of whether a MTCA plaintiff must prove that a release of a hazardous substance resulted in a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment in order to recover costs of investigation.

The Court should not accept Shamrock's Petition for Review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because there is no conflict created between decisions of Division II and this *Douglass* decision. In fact Division II has never ruled on recovery of *investigative* costs as opposed to cleanup costs. Clearly, the holding in Seattle City Light v. Wash. Dep 't of Transportation, 98 Wn.App. 165 (1999) was limited to cleanup costs. (Id at 167). Cost of investigation was never mentioned and was

therefore not before the Court. Accordingly, Douglass is not in conflict with that Division II case.

Shamrock's argument was completely debunked by Division III;

Our interpretation of "remedial action" is not at odds with our prior decision in Seattle City Light, 98 Wash. App. at 176, 989 P. 2d 1164. Seattle City Light only addressed a request for cleanup costs. It did not consider a claim for investigative costs. The Seattle City Light rule that a defendant is not liable for cleanup costs absent proof of a potential threat to human health or the environment is not inconsistent with the rule recognized here; that investigative costs, undertaken to discern whether such a threat exists, are compensable.

(Douglass v Shamock at 677).

Shamrock is now reduced to speculating that Division II, relying upon Seattle City Light, "would have" decided Douglass differently than did Division III.

To its credit, Shamrock seems to recognize that encouraging property owners to investigate potentially dangerous releases encourages good stewardship and promotes preservation of the environment. (Shamrock Petition @ pg 12).

Perhaps the best way to illustrate the folly of Shamrock's argument that investigation costs should not be awarded without a finding that the hazardous substance constituted a threat to human health or the environment is to look directly to RCW 70.105D.020(33) which provides the definition of remedial action.

Remedy or remedial action means any action or Expenditure consistent with the purposes of this chapter to identify, eliminate, or minimize any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances to human health or the environment including any investigative and monitoring activities with respect to any release or threatened release of a hazardous substance and any health assessments or health effects studies conducted in order to determine the risk or potential risk to human health.

The definition clearly includes "<u>any</u> investigative activities with respect to <u>any</u> release of a hazardous substance and any health assessments...conducted <u>in order to determine</u> the risk or potential risk to human health.

Division III performed a sober analysis of the legislature's intent in drafting the definition of remedial action. The Court analyzed the statute's plain language with a view toward giving effect to its purpose. (Douglass at 676, 677). One of the policies behind the statute is to make clean land available for future social (RCW 70.105D.010(4)). The purpose of the MTCA is to facilitate the cleanup of contaminated lands promote a healthful environment for future generations. (Seattle City Light at 169). The MTCA's declared policy is to hold parties accountable for "irresponsible use and disposal of hazardous substances." PacifiCorp Environmental v. WSDOT, 162 Wn.App. 627, 656, 259 P.3d 1115 (2011); RCW 70.105D.010(2).

Division III noted that the definition is broadly worded and that by its plain terms is not limited to actual cleanup efforts. Actions taken (Douglass at 677). The definition specifically includes any investigation of any release of a hazardous substance. It does not require that the release constitute a threat or potential threat as it does for the cleanup itself. (RCW 70.105D.020 (33)).

If the meaning of a statute is plain on its face, a court must give effect to that meaning as a definitive expression of intent. *Dep 't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.* C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10 (2002). Contrary to Shamrock's argument, Division III was not required to add words to the statute to arrive at its interpretation. Division III got it exactly right when it stated;

By its plain terms, [the definition] is not limited to actual cleanup efforts. Actions taken to identify and investigate the need for cleanup are also covered. Furthermore ... an investigation need not reveal an actual threat to qualify as remedial. Thankfully, not all potential threats turn out to be dangerous. By extending the remedial action definition to include the identification and investigation of potential threats, the MTCA covers actions and expenditures taken to discern whether a potential threat in fact poses danger to human health or the environment.

(Douglass at 677).

B. On the facts of this case, with the equities so obviously favoring Plaintiff, the reviewing court need not await the trial court's final decision on what portion of costs will be awarded Plaintiff prior to designating Plaintiff the prevailing party

Review should not be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) on the basis that the prevailing party cannot yet be known because on the facts already established, it is clear that because the equities overwhelmingly

favor Douglass, the trial court will obviously award Douglass most, if not all of his \$950.00 cost of investigation.

On remand, the trial court may consider whatever equitable factors it determines are appropriate. RCW 70.105D.080; *Dash Point Village Assocs. v. Exxon*, 86 Wn.App. 596, 607, 937 P.2d 1148, (Div 1, 1997). Accordingly, in addition to any other factors the trial court will consider, it will likely also consider the following;

- 1. Shamrock was a trespasser;
- Shamrock's trespass lasted 89 days;
- 3. Shamrock *intentionally* sprayed petroleum products over Douglass' property daily while cleaning its asphalt paver;
- 4. Shamrock stored up to 16 pieces of heavy paving equipment on Douglass' property daily;
- 5. Shamrock continuously fueled and serviced its equipment on Douglass' property;
- 6. Shamrock was recalcitrant at trial and facts establishing the number of pieces of equipment stored on Douglass' property, Shamrock's failure to attempt to ascertain the record owner of the property, the cleaning of the asphalt paver by spraying diesel into it, etc., had to be elicited by painstaking effort on cross-examination.

In naming Douglass the prevailing party and ordering that he be awarded attorney fees and costs it was apparent that Division III understood that on the particular facts of this case, the equities sufficiently favored Douglass so that he would be awarded most, if not all, of his cost of investigation. Accordingly, there is no basis for further review of this portion of the Division III decision.

### **DOUGLASS' CROSS-PETITION**

### I. <u>IDENTITY OF CROSS-PETITIONER</u>

This Cross-Petition is filed by Harlan Douglass, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Maxine H. Douglass. Harlan and Maxine Douglass were plaintiffs and appellants. Maxine Douglass passed away in November of 2016.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Douglass seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision in Douglass v. Shamrock Paving, ---Wn.App. ---, 384 P.3d 673 (Div. III, Nov. 2016).

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a hazardous substance measuring at exactly 2,000 mg/kg, by definition, constitute at least a *potential threat* given the following three facts?

- (1) 2,000 mg/kg is the minimum cleanup level set by the legislature for soil contaminated by lube oil<sup>2</sup>;
- (2) 2,000 mg/kg provides the threshold, so that contamination in excess of that level constitutes a threat to human life or the environment *requiring* clean-up; and,
- (3) the definition of "remedial action" includes, not only eliminating threats but eliminating *potential* threats to human health *or the environment*;

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> WAC 173-340-740(2)(b)(i); WAC 173-340-900

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cross-Petitioner, Harlan D. Douglass, owns a parcel of undeveloped land in Spokane County. (CP 729). Cross-Respondent, Shamrock Paving, Inc., is a paving contractor. (CP 729). During 89 days between June 1, 2013 and August 28, 2013, Shamrock trespassed on Plaintiffs' Property, using it as a staging area for sixteen pieces of heavy paving equipment while working on a nearby road project. (CP 729)(Douglass @ 675). Environmental testing after Shamrock was kicked off of Douglass' property established contamination by lube oil measuring 2,000 mg/kg, 800 mg/kg and 400 mg/kg. (CP 730)(Douglass @ 675). To his credit, Douglass remediated his property of contamination by removing and disposing of 68 tons of soil. (CP 730).

The trial court found that Shamrock released unknown amounts of hazardous substances onto Douglass' property consisting of gasoline, lube oil, and diesel. (CP 729). The trial court also found that Douglass' effort was the substantial equivalent of a Department of Ecology supervised cleanup. (CP 733). The trial court ultimately found that Shamrock was liable under the Model Toxic Control Act, RCW 70.105D, et seq. (CP 732-33). However, the trial court denied Douglass any relief on his private right of action under MTCA concluding that he failed to show that Shamrock's release of hazardous substances constituted a threat or potential threat to human health or the

environment. (CP 730). Douglass contends that he established that the release constituted a *potential* threat.

On appeal, Division III reversed the trial court, finding that Douglass' investigation of the contamination—but not the cleanup—qualified as a remedial action and that Shamrock is liable for costs of investigation subject to the trial court's consideration of equitable factors. (*Douglass* @ 677). Division III agreed with the trial court that Shamrock was not liable for the cleanup costs because the contamination did not exceed 2,000 mg/kg. (*Douglass* @ 678).

- V. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2)
  BECAUSE BY FAILING TO GIVE MEANING TO THE
  WORDS POTENTIAL THREAT, THE DOUGLASS
  DECISION IS IN CONFLICT WITH PUBLISHED
  DECISIONS OF DIVISIONS I AND II AS WELL AS THE
  APPLICABLE STATUTE
  - A. The decision conflicts with RCW 70.105D.020(33) which provides the definition of remedial action

The MTCA defines "Remedial Action" as:

Any action or expenditure consistent with the purposes of this chapter to identify, eliminate, or minimize any threat or potential threat posed by hazardous substances to human health or the environment including any investigative and monitoring activities with respect to any release or threatened release of a hazardous substance and any health assessments or health effects studies conducted in order to determine the risk or potential risk to human health.

RCW 70.105D.020(33).

The MTCA was intended to provide for a safe and clean environment and to hold liable those responsible for release of

hazardous substances. (City of Seattle @ 169; RCW 70.105D.010). It was also intended to facilitate clean-up of hazardous substances released into the environment. (Id). The legislature included the word potential to describe the kind of threats to the environment that, though they might not exceed the threshold at which they are categorized a per se threat, they still meet the definition of remedial action once cleaned up. If the legislature had intended that only contamination levels exceeding the 2,000 mg/kg threshold be addressed, it would have had no reason to include the words, or potential threat.

If the meaning of a statute is plain on its face, a court must give effect to that meaning as a definitive expression of intent. *Dep 't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.* C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10 (2002). If the legislature only intended that levels of contamination exceeding 2,000 mg/kg be mitigated, (*actual threat*), there would be no need to include the word *potential* in RCW 70.105D.020(33). It's a safe assumption that the MTCA's lack of a special definition for the word *potential* resulted from a view that the ordinary definition was adequate. That the word needed no special definition as a term of art for purposes of the Act. Additionally, the provisions of the MTCA are to be liberally construed. (RCW 70.105D.910).

Accordingly, this case is ripe for review, not only to resolve the conflict with the cases cited below but to properly interpret the statute.

Accordingly, this case is ripe for review, not only to resolve the conflict with the cases cited below but to properly interpret the statute.

When the legislature mandated that contamination levels exceeding 2,000 mg/kg be remediated it acknowledged that such levels constitute a threat. By mandating also that potential threats be remediated, the legislature acknowledged that the level of contamination need not necessarily reach the level of 2,001 to be threatening and therefore lesser levels can trigger required remediation. If a level of 2,001 mg/kg constitutes a threat, it defies logic to blindly accept the premise that a contamination level of 2,000 mg/kg is not at least, by definition, a potential threat.

## B. The Division III decision in *Douglass* conflicts with decisions from Division I and Division II

Cited below are decisions from Divisions I and II, both of which confirm that not only cleanup of threats to human health or the environment satisfy the definition of remedial action, but cleanup of potential threats do as well.

"In order to impose remedial costs for cleanup on a defendant, a plaintiff must prove that the hazardous substance poses a threat or potential threat to human health or the environment". Seattle City Light v. Dep't of Transp., 98 Wash.App. 165, 170, 989 P.2d 1164 (Div. 2, 1999).

"A cleanup, or remedial action, means any action to identify, eliminate, or minimize any threat or *potential threat* posed by

1185 (Div. 1, 2006). However, despite the fact that a concentration of 2,000 mg/kg would, by definition, constitutes a potential threat, Division III did not reverse the trial court on the issue of cleanup costs. This conflicts with the other cases cited which make clear that cleanup of potential threats constitute remediation.

C. The entire misunderstanding regarding whether Shamrock's release constituted a potential threat to human health or the environment had its genesis in the trial court's apparent misunderstanding of testimony of the DOE expert

Douglass argued that the trial court erred in finding that lube oil at 2,000 mg/kg did not constitute a *potential threat* to the environment. (28-31 AOB).<sup>3</sup> Such finding would have compelled the trial court to find that Douglass' clean up satisfied the definition of *remedial action*.

Douglass' argument focused on the fact that Shamrock's questioning of Mr. Leinart, the DOE expert, elicited testimony regarding the state of the site only <u>after</u> it was cleaned-up rather than before and that the trial court misunderstood that fact as evidenced by the wording it used in summarizing Leinart's testimony.

Division III carried this misunderstanding forward, determining that the trial court had not misunderstand Mr. Leinart's testimony. It concluded that the trial court had correctly understood Mr. Leinart's testimony to pertain to the *pre-cleanup* state of the site because;

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> AOB stands for Appellants' Opening Brief

concluded that the trial court had correctly understood Mr. Leinart's testimony to pertain to the *pre-cleanup* state of the site because;

The Department witness had reviewed Tetra Tech's report documenting the <u>pre-cleanup</u> test results.

(n 10 at page 11 Douglass).

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